I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

A. The trial court erred by ruling that the Plaintiffs failure to timely 

produce photos sought in a defendants' CR 34 discovery request constituted 

a willful CR 26(g) violation, where exhaustive, good faith search and 

retrieval efforts had been employed, but the photos were not in plaintiff s 

own possession, custody, knowledge or control, but were in the hands of an 

unknown third-party, in yet another unknown third-party's personal file. 

S. The trial court erred by ruling that the extraordinary and drastic, 

ultimate remedy of declaring a mistrial in a civil bench case was absolutely 

necessary to deal with mere cumulative evidence, instead ofa continuance. 

C. The trial court erred by ruling that $16,000.00 in attorney's fees 

and costs was a proper, severe sanction against the faultless Plaintiff due to 

the innocent actions ofan independent third-party, allegedly in order to serve 

the intended purposes ofdeterring and punishing and educating against ever 

again being a willful violator attempting to gain tactical advantage by 

knowingly and intentionally withholding evidence in that party's possession, 

custody, and control, to the prejudice and disadvantage of the defense. 

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR: 

A. What are a party's actual discovery obligations under CR 34? 
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B. What is a party's discovery certification obligation under CR 26(g)? 

C. What is party's duty to amend or supplement under CR 26(e) when 

responsive evidence promised to the other party suddenly surfaces? 

D. How should a Court determine whether there has been a CR 26(g) 

violation by a party and what to do about it in the least severe manner? 

E. How should a Court determine whether there has simply been a mere 

irregularity and what to do about it in the least severe manner? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

(OVERVIEW OF BACKGROUND FACTS) 

In September of2007, Plaintiff Johnson Brothers Contracting, Inc. (hereafter 

"JBC"), discovered on the day they were leaving the Defendants' jobsite to 

go to JBC's next job, that JBC's heavy equipment had been badly damaged 

from unauthorized usage, allegedly at the hands of the defendants. Plaintiff 

JBC served the Co-Defendants Blevins and Badissy with an August 20th
, 

2009 Complaint giving the following detailed description of damages: 

... a hydraulic hose was ripped off ... 

CP- 8, line 10. 

. . . one piece of equipment suddenly needed a huge amount 

of hydraulic fluid and the hydraulic hoses on that piece of 
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equipment were also newly and significantly damaged or 

vandalized. 

CP- 8, lines 20-23. 

The damages were severe and significant and included but 

were not limited to: The John Deere 134 CLC had the hand 

rail broken, the window was broken, the pin was worked out 

and damaged, the mirror was missing, and there were 

scratches and rock damage to the machine as well as a few 

dents; the Kamatzu 380 Loader had a broke windshield, a 

broken grapple, a bent step, and a broken radiator guard; the 

John Deere 648 Skidder had a crack in the front blade and the 

rake, as well as the left arm being cracked, and two broken 

hydraulic hoses, all of which damages to all the equipment 

rendered it undeliverable to the next job site, and unreliable 

and also unuseable without risk of further damages to the 

equipment or injury to Plaintiff s and other workers. 

CP-9, para. 3.11. 

Plaintiff JBC originally retained attorney, Ms. Toni Meacham from Connell, 
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Washington, but Mr. Trujillo in Yakima became the new attorney for JBC in 

April of2009, about one and a half years after the September 2007 incident. 

JBC and its witnesses were certain that photographs had been taken of the 

above-described September 2007 equipment damages by former JBC 

employee and eye-witness, Richard Holcomb (who personal1y viewed and 

then took pictures of all the damages), then gave those photographs to his 

manager and former JBC employee, Brent Deroo, in order to give them to 

JBC's former attorney, Ms. Toni Meacham. CP- 43, line 34 - CP- 44, line 2. 

However, the pictures of the damages to the equipment described in the 

complaint were not found in the JBC client file that Ms. Meacham had copied 

for and provided to Mr. Trujillo when he became the new attorney for JBC 

in April of2009, nor were the pictures in the possession of Mr. Holcomb or 

Mr. Deroo either. CP- 44, lines 3-5. JBC itself and the Sheriff's Department 

did not have any photos and everyone else could not find the photos either. 

CP-44, lines 5-7. JBC Attorney Mr. Trujillo even asked former counsel, now 

an outsider third-party, Ms. Meacham, to double check her old JBC file again 

when the Defendants served discovery on November 17th
, 2010 (RP-259, 

lines 14-20), but Ms. Meacham again confirmed she did not have the 
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photographs, and in fact actually didn't remember ever getting any photos, 

and she had no idea where they were or who had them at all or who had them 

last. CP-44, lines 7-11. 

On or about November 17th, 2010, Defendants Blevins and Badissy, through 

its counsel at the time, Robert E. Lawrence-Berrey, Jr., served Plaintiff JBC 

with the aforementioned CR 34 request for production of any and all 

photographs in JBC's possession, custody, or control as well as questions 

about the extent of the damages to the equipment. CP-44, lines 21-25. In 

response, JBC and its counsel, David Trujillo, spent many months searching 

again for the photographs, checking allover again with all the witnesses, all 

the current and former JBC employees, including but not limited to Richard 

Holcomb and Brent Deroo, and with the Sheriffs Department, and with 

Deputy Hoffee, and with former counsel Ms. Meacham, who again confirmed 

for at least the second time that the photographs were not in her JBC file. 

CP-44, lines 24-31; CP-231-232. 

Ms. Meacham provided a sworn statement confirming that Mr. Trujillo first 

contacted her right after he took over JBC case in April of 2009 and again 
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sometime between December 2010 and March 2011 in response to the 

Defendant's November 2010 discovery, each time seeking the photographs, 

but the pictures simply were not in her JBC file every time she checked. CP

231-232. Ms. Meacham confirmed that she personally searched for the 

photographs in good faith as requested. CP-231, lines 22-24. JBC and its 

witnesses "thought" they gave the pictures to Ms. Meacham, but they were 

not exactly sure who they had given them to if Ms. Meacham didn't have 

them or didn't ever receive them as she claimed, and so JBC had no idea 

where the pictures actually were or who had them last. CP- 44, lines 12-16. 

Accordingly, after exhausting all efforts as described above, JBC's counsel, 

Mr. Trujillo answered all the discovery questions from the Defendant 

regarding the physical extent and monetary amounts ofthe physical damages, 

identifying all witnesses thereto, but had no photographs to produce, and then 

signed the CR 26(g) certification to confirm that the discovery answers and 

production that were produced, had been produced after a reasonable and 

diligent search of all the evidence and records within JBC's and attorney 

Trujillo's possession, custody, and control and after consultation with all 

persons with any knowledge of the facts. CP-44, lines 34 to CP-45, line 4. 

6 




The discovery production records provided to Defendants Blevins and 

Badissy did, however, definitely included JBC's employee time cards with 

notations expressly stating that Richard Holcomb had spent time taking 

pictures of the equipment damages described in both the complaint and the 

discovery answers, on both September 6th and 7th
, 2007, and these employee 

time records were not just produced in discovery to the defense but were also 

marked for identification at trial as Plaintiffs identification # 1 O. CP-45, lines 

4-10; See also Exhibit list at CP-34-40. Plaintiffs counsel also informed 

defense attorney Lawrence-Berrey that if the photographs were ever located 

they would be produced. RP-261, lines 11-15. Mr. Rob Case later took over 

the defense and Mr. Lawrence-Berrey withdrew to enter the jUdiciary. 

On December 12th, 2011, almost 2 years before the trial on September 11 lh, 

2013, Defendants Blevins and Badissy, through their new attorney Rob Case 

also took the depositions of JBC's witnesses and former employees Richard 

Holcomb and Brent Deroo who again carefully described the equipment 

damages they had seen with their eyes and indicated that photographs had 

been taken which they thought they had given to former counsel, Ms. 

Meacham, but again reiterated that she said she didn't have these photos and 
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she couldn't remember ever receiving them, and ifshe didn't have the photos, 

then they were lost somewhere they didn't know where, and had not turned 

up yet. CP-45, lines 12-21; RP-248, lines 5-7; RP-247, line 22 to RP-248, 

line 16; RP-249, lines 1-10. No one ever told Defendants the photos had 

been permanently destroyed by JBC or anyone else, or were gone for good. 

However, nothing occurred or ever changed that would cause any reasonable 

person to reasonably believe that it would be prudent or productive to resume 

any further searching, as everyone had already searched and had stated 

several times that they did not have the photographs and did not know where 

they were. 

At the trial, even the trial Judge acknowledged that in the pretrial depositions, 

JBC's witnesses were asked if there were any photographs and the 

Defendants were advised that the answer was that there were photographs but 

they didn't know where they were. RP-266, lines 2-6. Then consistent with 

that, the Court also noted that "Mr. Holcomb testified on the stand that he did 

take pictures of the damage and gave those pictures to someone but couldn't 

remember who and testified to this court that those pictures were nowhere to 

be found." RP-267, line 24 to RP- 268, line 2. Unfortunately, there were 
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simply no new leads on where to search for the photographs, nor was there 

ever any indication that yet another search for photographs should be resumed 

or would have any new and improved chance of success. JBC certainly 

wished it could find the photos for added support. 

However, all the relentless and merciless needling at trial from the defense 

about JBC not having any Plaintiff-helpful photographs to verify the 

credibility of the Plaintiffs eye-witness testimony about the equipment 

damages being verbally described by eye-witnesses albeit without 

corroborating photos, (at RP-85, lines 10-21; RP-199-205) eventually 

prompted one last, desperation search, mid-trial with Ms. Meacham, even 

though she had already made abundantly clear, no less than TWO TIMES 

already, that she did NOT have the photos. Id. Attorney Trujillo was able to 

reach Ms. Meacham on a Sunday, September 15th
, 2013. CP-46, lines 5-7. 

Ms. Meacham agreed to check her JBC file again for the third time even 

though it was now going to be much more inconvenient for her to do so. This 

was because Ms. Meacham had since archived her JBC file into a storage unit 

along with many other, much older, archived files. Appendix A, page 2, lines 
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6-13. This inconvenience turned out to be good luck. The archived JBC file 

was again found to have no pictures, but then Ms. Meacham suddenly caught 

sight ofthe older, previously closed, archived, separate, personal file ofJBC 

manager, Brent Deroo, and there the photos were found late in the afternoon 

ofMonday, September 16th
, 2013. Id.; CP-46, line 25 to CP-47, line 4. 

JBC's counsel had the photographs scanned and printed out into complete 

sets of8 112 x 11 inch color photocopies and personally delivered a complete 

set to Defense counsel the very next morning at 10:00 am on September 17th
, 

2013, a full 25 (TWENTY FIVE) hours before the parties were to resume the 

trial on September 18th, 2013 for the rest of Plaintiff JBC's case-in-chief. 

CP-47, lines 10-28. Sometime after 11:00 am on September 18th, 2013, JBC 

had the photographs marked as JBC's Identification #20 in order to simply 

have Rick Holcomb identify the newly located photographs as being the ones 

he had taken showing the damages he already verbally described and testified 

to. Mr. Holcomb is the one who had looked at all the damages on the 

equipment with his own eyes and then took the photographs of what he had 

looked at to verbally paint a visual depiction of what he had already seen in 

person and had been verbally describing to everyone with his own eye

10 




witness testimony based on memory alone. CP-47, lines 27-32. 

Defense counsel then objected to the photos and claimed he'd been "set up", 

(RP-243, lines 15-16), saying that Plaintiff and or counsel "had them" and 

then "... during the middle of trial" were "going to spring them on the 

opponent" in direct violation ofCR 26(g). RP-243,lines 11-13; CP-47,lines 

33-34. The Court ordered a recess at 11 :30 am for both sides to brief the 

issue and report back at 1 :30 pm. RP-245, lines 7-9CP-47, lines 34-35. At 

1 :30 pm, Defense counsel reported that he found two cases allegedly 

supporting his contentions that JBC should be held responsible for an 

inadvertent violation ofCR 26(g) based on the two cases he claimed stood for 

the proposition that inadvertent non-disclosure of responsive discovery 

production materials is still deemed willful in violation of CR 26(g) as a 

matter of law and that such a violation mandated attorney fee sanctions and 

for which no less than a mistrial was also needed. RP-249, line 22 to RP

250, line 17; and CP-48, lines 1-11. 

PlaintiffJBC's counsel Mr. Trujillo gave a full explanation on the record and 

as an officer of the court of the how he and JBC had tried to locate the 

11 




photographs several times over the years both when first taking the case, and 

again in a good faith effort to respond to the discovery request ofNovember 

2010. RP-258, line 21 to RP-263, line 12. J8C's counsel explained how the 

photographs were searched for a third time during trial on a mere whim 

although not because of any obligation or because of any sudden leads, and 

were miraculously located at the last minute, mid-trial, and that Plaintiffs 

would not resist any length of continuance the Defendants wanted to deal 

with the photographs which now confirmed everything the Plaintiffs 

witnesses had testified to. Id. 

The Court also reviewed a September 16th
, 2013 sworn statement from Toni 

Meacham which she had drafted simply to explain how the photographs were 

located at the last minute during trial. RP-268, line 25 to RP-269, line 1; 

Appendix A. (See also Ms. Meacham's supplemental declaration of 

November 4th, 2013 filed at CP-231-232, clarifying an omission in the first 

declaration). The Court specifically held: 

"1 take Mr. Trujillo at his word as an officer of the court that 

he in fact asked Toni Meacham to look for the documents 

-pardon me, look for the photographs - in November of201 0 
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[in response to the Defendants' discovery request], but not 

again until Sunday, September 15th
, 2013. 

RP-269, lines 21-25. 

In spite ofthe fact that the Plaintiff had established the fact that Plaintiff had 

clearly undertaken a diligent search for the photographs with all third-parties 

that might have them, and there was no willful violation or bad faith, the 

Defense nevertheless alleged that CR 26(g) had been violated anyhow, that 

the Plaintiffs had withheld their own helpful evidence from themselves and 

everyone else, and claimed that case law supported the defense's allegation 

that a CR 26(g) violation had occurred even ifinadvertent. The defense then 

demanded a mistrial and a sanctions award offees and costs and also claimed 

that the arrival of the photos had ruined and wasted his efforts to pursue an 

alleged claim for spoliation, and or that the defense had relied that the 

photographs would never surface and thus had "been led astray". RP-257, 

lines 1-3. Defense counsel explained that if the photographs had been 

provided before trial, he "may have gone out and hired an expert to examine 

what is depicted in these photographs as consistent with the JBC's witnesses' 

story." RP-257, lines 15-18. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW: 

1. An appellate court reviews a trial court's decision on a discovery order for 

an abuse ofdiscretion. Judicial discretion means a sound judgment that is not 

exercised arbitrarily, but with regard to what is right and equitable under the 

circumstances and the law, and that is directed by the reasoning conscience 

of the judge to a just result. An appellate court will find an abuse of 

discretion only on a clear showing that the trial court's exercise ofdiscretion 

was manifestly unreasonable or that the trial court exercised its discretion of 

untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Diaz v. Migrant Council, 165 

Wash. App. 59, 73 (Division III, November 2011 ) (further citations omitted). 

A court also abuses its discretion when it "uses an incorrect standard oflaw 

or the facts do not meet the requirements of the standard oflaw." Collings 

v. Mortgage Services, 175 Wash. App. 589, 598 (2013)(quotingfromSherron 

Assocs. Loan Fund V (Mars Hotel), LLC v. Saucier, 157 Wash. App. 357, 

361,237 P.3d 338 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1012 (2011). 

A discretionary decision rests on "untenable grounds" or is 

based on "untenable reasons" if the trial court relies on 

14 



unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard; the 

court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if "the court, 

despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported 

facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take. '" 

State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 PJd 638 

(2003)(quoting State v. Lewis, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298-99, 797 

P.2d 1141 (1990)). [Furthermore,] [qJuestions of law are 

reviewed de novo. In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 

135, 916 P.2d 411 (1996); Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons 

Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, at 339,858 P.2d 1054 (1993) ... 

Mayer v. Sto Industries, Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006) 

B. The Analytical Framework (Argument and Authority): 

1. CR 34 (a)(1) actually states that the party seeking the discovery is only 

entitled to production of all "tangible things which constitute or contain 

matters within the scope of rule 26(b) AND WHICH ARE IN THE 

POSSESSION. CUSTODY OR CONTROL OF THE PARTY UPON 

WHOM THE REQUEST IS SERVED;". 

Subdivisions (a) and (b) of CR 34 are designed to be used 
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only where the documents and things are in the 

POSSESSION, CUSTODY, OR CONTROL of the party 

upon whom the request is served, or the land or other property 

is in the possession or control of the party upon whom the 

request is served. 

Orland and Tegland, Washington Practice, Volume 4, Rules for Superior 

Court, page 212 (l992)(further citation omitted). A party is generally 

presumed to have control ofa document if the party has the right to obtain the 

document. Orland and Tegland, supra. at 208 (further citation omitted). 

However, presumptions may be rebutted by the actual facts of the situation. 

Kitsap Bank v. Denley, 177 Wash. App. 559, 570 (2013). 

A good case on possession, custody, and control for discovery purposes is 

Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Council, 165 Wash. App. 59 (Division III, 

November 2011 )(a corporation, consisting of currently employed counsel 

members who invoked their individual fifth amendment rights to refuse to 

answer discovery served on the corporation, is nevertheless properly 

sanctioned as a party for thereby willfully refusing to comply with a 

discovery obligation; the "availability" ofthe discovery sought and whether 
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that discovery material is "within" the corporate party's "possession, custody, 

or control" depends on the legal relationship between the corporation and its 

directors and the duties owed by the directors to the corporation). 

In Diaz, the party defendant corporation had an actively employed board of 

directors who had actual knowledge within their actual possession, custody, 

and control, and with each director having a current and actual ongoing legal 

and financial responsibility to the corporation. Id., at 77. Therein, Division 

III noted: 

'Control,' apart from possession, is defined as "the legal right 

to obtain the documents requests upon demand." Searock v. 

Stripling, 736 F.2d 650, 653 (11 th Cir. 1984). Control may 

also be found where an entity has access to and the ability to 

obtain the documents. Bank ofN.Y. v. Meridien BIAO Bank 

Tanzania Ltd., 171 F.R.D. 135, 144 (S.D.N.Y. 1997); 

Addamax Corp. v. Open Software Foundation, Inc., 148 

F.R.D. 462, 469 (D. Mass 1993). The burden of 

demonstrating that the party from who discovery is sought has 

the practical ability to obtain the documents at issue lies with 
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the party seeking discovery. Golden Trade. S.r.L. v. Lee 

Apparel Co., 143 F.R.D. 514, 525 n.7 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) . 

. . . Mr. Diaz has NOT shown that the Migrant Council had 

the legal or practical ability to secure any responsi ve personal 

records belonging to the directors .... [therefore] the Court 

had no basis for finding it in contempt for a failure to respond

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