Case No. 321657

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION THREE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED

JOHNSON BROTHERS CONTRACTING, INC.,

JUL 11 2014

Plaintiff/Appellant,

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

VS.

CHARLES L. BLEVINS and JANE DOE BLEVINS; and ZINE A. BADISSY and JANE DOE BADISSY, d/b/a BLACK ROCK ORCHARDS,

Defendants/Respondents,

and

MT. ADAMS TRUCKING; DENNY AMES and JANE DOE AMES; and TIM DUKE and JANE DOE DUKE,

Defendants/Cross-Defendants/Non-Parties to this Appeal.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

D. R. (ROB) CASE (WSBA #34313) Larson Berg & Perkins PLLC Attorneys for Respondents Blevins & Badissy

105 North 3rd Street Yakima, WA 98901 Phone: (509) 457-1515 Fax: (509) 457-1027

A. INTRODUCTION

The plaintiff/appellant asks this court to second guess the trial judge's determination, in a bench trial, that a mistrial was necessary due to prejudicial irregularities that were the fault of the plaintiff and its counsel. The trial judge was certainly in the best position to make the determination, and the plaintiff concedes that its appeal is controlled by the deferential "abuse of discretion" standard of review. See e.g., Appellant's Opening Brief, p.14.

In hopes of obtaining a reversal, the plaintiff distorts the record, ignores critical facts, and bases its arguments on invalid assertions. For instance, one of the plaintiff's principal contentions – repeated over and over throughout its brief – is that the at-issue photographs were supposedly "entirely cumulative" and/or "corroborative" to the witnesses' testimony. See e.g., Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.1, 12, 23-24, 35, 39, 41-43 & 45-48. That contention is nothing more than a self-serving, untrue assertion. It is what the plaintiff wishes and needs to be true, but it is not true. Tellingly, the plaintiff offers no meaningful argument and zero record citations to support the contention. Instead, the plaintiff just repeats it ad nauseam as if mere repetition might make the contention true.

Equally false, the plaintiff asserts that "NO ONE can say anything negative against party JBC or JBC's counsel of record Mr. Trujillo".

Brief of Respondents - 1

(Capitalization in original.) See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.32-33. To the contrary, the trial court carefully documented how CR 26 was violated and it pinned that violation directly on Mr. Trujillo and the plaintiff. See e.g., CP 157 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.8, lns.10-24, which includes an unchallenged Conclusion of Law saying: "Mr. Trujillo's failure to renew his request for Ms. Meacham to search her files for the photographs between November 2010 and September 15, 2013, was an unreasonable omission", underscore emphasis added) & CP 159 (same "Order", p.10, lns.13-14, which includes another unchallenged Conclusion saying: "the mistrial was caused by a discovery violation by the plaintiff and/or its counsel", underscore emphasis added).¹

When the true record is considered, the plaintiff's arguments necessarily fail. The arguments fail because they are wholly predicated on invalid assertions. Each of the plaintiff's key assertions was considered, weighed, and rejected by the trial court. The defense will provide

¹ For clarity, this court does <u>not</u> have to conclude/agree that CR 26 was violated in order to uphold the trial court's decision. As previously noted, this appeal is controlled by the deferential abuse of discretion standard. *See supra*, p.1, 2nd ¶. In addition, the plaintiff conceded below that "the [trial] court still has inherent power[,] even if there was no violation[,] to fashion a remedy to do justice." (Underscore emphasis and bracketed material added.) *See* RP 260 (plaintiff's argument, transcript of 09/18/13, p.260, lns.23-25); *see also* RP 261 (same transcript, p.261, lns.21-23). The plaintiff should be estopped from making a contrary argument to this court in hopes of obtaining a reversal and an award of fees. *See e.g.*, *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 153, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) ("The [invited error] doctrine was designed in part to prevent parties from misleading trial courts and receiving a windfall by doing so", bracketed material added).

detailed, often voluminous, record citations to demonstrate this reality.

Despite submitting a 50-page brief, the plaintiff fails to directly challenge any Finding of Fact or Conclusion of Law. This, too, is fatal to the appeal. The defense will cite controlling precedents to this effect. *See infra*, pp.8-9, §§C.1.-C.2.

The precedents cited by the plaintiff are inapposite to its legal arguments. For instance, the plaintiff repeatedly argues that because the at-issue photographs were possessed by its former counsel, Ms. Meacham, they were supposedly beyond the plaintiff's "control". See e.g., Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.1, 5-6, 18-20, 25 & 29. None of the decisions cited by the plaintiff stands for that proposition, which is not surprising because each addressed a distinguishable factual circumstance. By contrast, the defense will cite multiple persuasive-weight federal precedents – as well as WSBA materials – that are factually on-point. When a party gives documents to its then-attorney, those documents are still under that party's control as a matter of law. See infra, pp.35-37, §E.2., including Avocent Redmond Corp. v. Rose Electronics, 491 F. Supp.2d 1000, 1010 (W.D. Wa 2007) ("such documents are clearly within the client's control" citations omitted and underscore emphasis added).

A mistrial was the only logical outcome. The trial court explained how the CR 26 violation (in addition to other irregularities) unfairly

prejudiced the defendants' trial preparations, strategy, and participation. *See e.g.*, CP 153-155, 158 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.4, lns.14-22; p.5, ln.15 – p.6, ln.21 & p.9, lns.1-6, including all handwritten interlineations); *accord* RP 270 (judge's oral ruling, transcript of 09/18/13, p.270, lns.16-23).² The court further explained why a mere continuance would not have been an adequate remedy. *See* CP 158 (same "Order", p.9, lns.20-29). These Findings and Conclusions are unchallenged.

The trial court considered the option of excluding/suppressing the photographs, which was the defendants' primary request. *See* CP 159 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.10, lns.1-4); RP 272 (judge's oral ruling, transcript of 09/18/13, p.272, lns.2-9) & RP 256 (defense counsel's argument, same transcript, p.256, lns.19-20). By declaring a mistrial instead, the court struck a balance. The plaintiff was not foreclosed from using the photographs in a new trial, and the current trial was negated as a matter of fairness to the defendants.³

This court should affirm the trial court's "Order" and "Judgment" in all respects. That includes the trial court's award of costs and fees to

² The trial court's oral rulings – from September 18th and November 1st – were expressly incorporated into the written "Order". *See* RP (judge's oral ruling, transcript of 11/01/13, p.74, Ins.15-17) & CP 156 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.7, Ins.13-14, handwritten interlineations).

³ Notably, the plaintiff never acknowledges that full suppression was considered as a possible sanction, and the plaintiff offers zero argument to show that a mistrial was somehow a more severe sanction than suppression would have been. See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.1-50.

the defendants/respondents. Appellate fees and costs should also be awarded to the respondents. The trial was for naught, all fault lies on the plaintiff's side, and the respondents' time and money were wasted at trial (and are being further wasted on this meritless appeal).

B. RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Each of the plaintiff's "Assignments of Error" is predicated on untrue, self-serving assertions. When those bogus assertions are stripped away, the plaintiff's Assignments of Error break down.

Assignment "A" is predicated on the two-part contention that "[1] the photos were not in plaintiff's . . . control, but were in the hands of [2] an unknown third-party". (Bracketed material and ellipsis added.) See Appellant's Opening Brief, p.1, ¶A. Both parts are false.

The record unequivocally confirms that the photographs were possessed by the plaintiff's former attorney, Toni Meacham, not by some "unknown" third-party. This fact is effectively conceded elsewhere by the plaintiff in its brief,⁴ was conceded by the plaintiff as an "undisputed fact" below,⁵ and was squarely found by the trial court in a Finding that the

⁴ See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.10 & 12 (discussing how the photographs were found in Ms. Meacham's files).

⁵ See CP 52 ("Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration", dated 10/03/13, p.4, lns.12-16, saying: "[i]t is . . . an undisputed fact, that on the date of the November 2010 discovery request . . . the pictures were in fact, actually in the . . . possession of . . . Ms. Meacham", ellipses and underscore emphasis added).

plaintiff does not challenge.6

Because the photographs were delivered to the plaintiff's then-attorney and stayed in her possession, the photographs were within the plaintiff's "control" as a matter of law. Directly on-point is the precedent of *Avocent Redmond Corp. v. Rose Electronics*, 491 F. Supp.2d 1000, 1010 (W.D. Wa 2007). That decision, as well as other persuasive-weight authorities, will be fully presented in the "Argument" section of this brief below. *See infra*, pp.35-37, §E.2.

The plaintiff's Assignment "B" is predicated on the contention that the photographs were "mere cumulative evidence" to its witnesses' testimony. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, p.1, ¶B. That is false. In relevant part, the judge ruled as follows:

<u>I did not deem it cumulative</u>... If you remember, there were memory problems from your clients [sic, your witnesses] pertaining to what were [sic, was] damaged and some inconsistencies in their testimony. Some couldn't even remember the full scope and extent [of the alleged damages].

(Underscore emphasis, ellipsis, and bracketed material added.) *See* RP (judge's oral ruling, transcript of 11/01/13, p.52, lns.19-24).⁷ Likewise, the judge made the following interlineations on the written "Order":

⁶ See CP 151 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.2, lns.6-8, including an unchallenged Finding of Fact saying: "The photographs . . . had always been in the exclusive possession of the plaintiff and/or the plaintiff's then-counsel (Toni Meacham)", ellipsis and underscore emphasis added).

⁷ As previously noted, all of the judge's oral rulings were expressly incorporated into the written "Order". *See supra*, p.4, n.2.

The witness[es]' testimony &/or memory was poor & inconsistent[,] and their credibility on the damages was suspect.

(Underscore emphasis and bracketed material added.) *See* CP 158 ("Order", entered 11/01/13, p.9, handwritten interlineations).

Notably, these rulings came <u>after</u> numerous and repeated arguments by plaintiff's counsel, both orally and in writing, seeking a ruling that the photographs were cumulative and confirmatory of the witnesses' testimony.⁸ The court rejected those arguments. There is no Finding or Conclusion saying the photographs were cumulative.⁹

Finally, the plaintiff's Assignment "C" is predicated on the following contentions: (1) that the plaintiff was supposedly "faultless"

⁸ See e.g., RP (oral arguments by plaintiff's counsel, transcript of 11/01/13, p.51, lns.2-22; p.57, lns.6-7; p.59, lns.19-20 & p.65, ln.4); CP 41 ("Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration" dated 10/03/13, p.1, lns.33-34); CP 47 (same pleading, p.8, ¶17., lns.10-12); CP 49 ("Plaintiff's Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration", dated 10/03/13, p.1, lns.21-22); CP 52 (same pleading, p.5, lns.3-4 & lns.11-15); CP 55 (same pleading, p.7, lns.18-19); CP 60 (same pleading, p.12, lns.10-11); CP 70 (same pleading, p.22, lns.13-15); CP 72-73 (same pleading, p.24, ln.9 – p.25, ln.5); CP 73 (same pleading, p.25, lns.9-10); CP 74 (same pleading, p.26, lns.6-7 & lns.23-24); CP 75-76 (same pleading, p.27, ln.18 – p.28, ln.10); CP 76 (same pleading, p.30, lns.24-25); CP 79 (same pleading, p.31, lns.7-8 & lns.21-24); CP 122 ("Plaintiff's Objections to Defendants' Proposed Order", dated 10/23/13, p.8, ¶12, lns.1-13) & CP 125-126 (same pleading, p.11, ¶18, lns.5-12 & p.11, ¶19, ln.14 – p.12, ln.1).

As conceded by the plaintiff elsewhere in its brief: "In the absence of a finding on a factual issue [courts] must indulge the presumption that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain their burden on this issue." (Bracketed change made.) See Appellant's Opening Brief, p.18 (quoting State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997)). In citing this rule, the plaintiff contends that it should apply against the defense as to whether it was sufficiently established at the trial court that the at-issue photographs were in the plaintiff's control. See Appellant's Opening Brief, p.18 (arguing falsely, "The defense absolutely never proved or obtained any ruling that JBC had possession, custody or control of the pictures" when the discovery request was served on November 17, 2010). To the contrary, such a ruling was made, the plaintiff conceded this point as an "undisputed fact" below, and the point is also effectively conceded by other portions of the plaintiff's brief. See supra, pp.5-6, nn.4-6.

and "innocent", (2) that Ms. Meacham was supposedly an "independent" outsider, and (3) that a mistrial is supposedly only appropriate if one side "attempt[ed] to gain tactical advantage by knowingly and intentionally withholding evidence". (Bracketed change made.) See Appellant's Opening Brief, p.1, ¶C. All three contentions are invalid. Numbers one and two echo similar assertions embedded in the preceding Assignments, and they are invalid for the reasons stated above. See supra, pp.5-7. The third assertion is a false recitation of the law, which will be demonstrated in the "Argument" section of this brief below. See infra, pp.46-50, §E.5.

C. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

C.1. Each Finding is a Verity. The plaintiff does not challenge any of the trial court's Findings of Fact. See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.1-50. It is well-established that unchallenged Findings "will be considered verities on appeal." See e.g., Smith v. Breen, 26 Wn. App. 802, 803, 614 P.2d 671 (1980) (Division Three). Furthermore, "[a] respondent in a bench trial is entitled to the benefit of all evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom in support of the findings of fact entered by the trial court." (Internal citations omitted.) Keever & Associates, Inc. v. Randall, 129 Wn. App. 733, 737, 119 P.3d 926 (2005) (Division Three), review denied, 157 Wn.2d 1009 (2006). That is because the trial court "is free to believe or disbelieve" any evidence and/or theory presented at trial. See

Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 104-105, 267 P.3d 435 (2011) (Division Two). 10

C.2. Each Conclusion is the "Law of the Case". The plaintiff also does not challenge any of the trial court's Conclusions of Law. See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp.1-50. As such, each Conclusion is deemed "the law of the case". See e.g., Energy Northwest v. Hartje, 148 Wn. App. 454, 465, 199 P.3d 1043 (2009) (Division Three) ("An unchallenged conclusion of law becomes the law of the case."). 11

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

D.1. Nature of Case and Background Facts. As explained by the trial judge, this case "is essentially a claim for damages to a fleet of heavy equipment". RP 264 (judge's oral ruling, transcript of 09/18/13, p.264, lns.16-18); accord RP 269 (same transcript, p.269, lns.21-24).

All of the at-issue equipment was either owned or leased by the

¹⁰ The plaintiff also does <u>not</u> assign error to the trial court's refusal to make any of its proposed, alternate Findings. The argument cannot be raised via reply. See RAP 10.3(a)&(c); Sacco v. Sacco, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990). Regardless, a general argument that different Findings should have been made is <u>not</u> a proper assignment of error anyway; it is an improper request for the appellate court to search the record in hopes of discovering error. See e.g., Koster v. Wingard, 50 Wn.2d 855, 856, 314 P.2d 928 (1957); Scroggin v. Worthy, 51 Wn.2d 119, 124, 316 P.2d 480 (1957). "It is not the function or duty of [an appellate court] to search the record for errors, but only to rule on the errors specifically alleged." (Bracketed change made.) Smith v. Breen, 26 Wn. App. 802, 803, 614 P.3d 671 (1980) (Division Three).

Even assuming arguendo that one or more Conclusions was properly challenged (which, for clarity, the defendants do <u>not</u> concede), "[a]n assignment of error as to a conclusion of law does not bring up for review the facts found upon which the conclusion is based." See West Coast Airlines, Inc. v. Miner's Aircraft & Engine Service, Inc., 66 Wn.2d 513, 518, 403 P.2d 833 (1965). Thus, the Findings would still be verities.

plaintiff. See CP 7 (at-issue 2009 "Complaint", filed 08/20/09, p.4, ¶3.2). On the date(s) when it allegedly sustained damages, the equipment was parked on agricultural lands owned by defendants Badissy along Highway 24 outside of Moxee, Washington. See CP 7 (id., p.4, ¶3.3) & CP 18 ("Answer of Defendants Badissy and Blevins", filed 10/20/09, p.1, ¶1.4).

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